
 

 

 
December 19, 2019 
 
 
Stephanie Valentine 
PRA Coordinator 
Director of the Information Collection Clearance Division 
Department of Education 
550 12th Street, SW, PCP, Room 9089 
Washington, DC 20202-0023 
 
Paul J. Ray 
Acting Administrator 
Office of Information and Regulatory Affairs 
Office of Management and Budget 
Eisenhower Executive Office Building 
1650 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC  20503 
 
RE:  Agency Information Collection Request – Foreign Gift and 

Contracts Disclosure – Docket No. ED-2019-ICCD-0154 
 
Dear Ms. Valentine and Mr. Ray, 
 
On behalf of the American Council on Education and the undersigned higher 
education associations, I write to offer comments on the revised proposed 
Information Collection Request (ICR) published in the Federal Register by the 
Department of Education (Department) on December 17, 2019, Docket No. ED-
2019-ICCD-0154.   
 
Before commenting on the revised proposed ICR, it is important to reiterate 
some key contextual points from our initial comment letter of Nov. 5, 2019: The 
higher education community is deeply committed to protecting our institutions 
from illicit technology transfer and undue foreign influence. We recognize that 
institutions have an obligation to report foreign gift and contract information 
under Section 117 (Sec. 117) of the Higher Education Act of 1965 (HEA). At the 
same time, we are dedicated to preserving the principles of academic freedom, 
free speech, and intellectual exploration which are fundamental to American 
higher education. We genuinely believe that it is possible to reconcile efforts to 
guard against improper foreign influence while remaining true to our 
foundational principles.  
 
With regard to the Department’s revised proposed ICR, we recognize that the 
Department has made changes to the original ICR, including clarifying ambiguity 
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related to the $250,000 threshold, limiting reporting to an “institution” as 
defined in the law, limiting “contracts” to incoming-money agreements, and 
eliminating several certifications.   
 
Nonetheless, we believe that the Department’s revised proposed ICR continues to 
clearly exceed the specific statutory authority set out in Sec. 117 by significantly 
expanding the disclosure reporting required under the statute. In a purported 
effort to obtain the information required under Sec. 117, the revised proposed 
ICR casts an expansive net through mandatory disclosures never contemplated or 
authorized under the statute. Further, without statutory authorization, the 
revised proposed ICR seeks information and documents that potentially include 
confidential and proprietary information which the Department may not be able 
to protect from disclosure to the public.  
 
First, Sec. 117 provides specific directives for what is to be reported regarding 
foreign gifts and contracts from individuals or entities in excess of $250,000. The 
law mandates only the reporting of aggregate amounts of such gifts, and it 
does not require the reporting of the identity of the individual or entity 
providing the gift or entering into the contract. Rather, Sec. 117 requires 
reporting of those gifts and contracts to be categorized by the country based 
on citizenship or the “principal residence” if the citizenship country is unknown. 
(The name of the donor or contracting entity is only required when the 
counterparty is a foreign government.) For restricted and conditional gifts, there 
is some additional reporting required beyond the amount, including the date and 
a description of the conditions or restrictions. But even in these cases, Sec. 117 
does not direct that the name of the donor or contracting party be disclosed 
(except for when the donor or contracting party is a foreign government). See 20 
U.S.C. § 1011f(b)&(c).  
 
Nonetheless, despite comments offered to the Department underscoring this 
unambiguous statutory limitation, the revised proposed ICR would require 
detailed “disaggregated information from each” gift or contract, including the 
date received, recipient (including any and all intermediaries), contract start and 
end dates, and the names and addresses of all donors or contracting 
entities. Nonsensically, the Department asserts that “the statute does not carve 
out an exception for institutions to withhold the name or address of an 
anonymous party.” Department’s Summary of Public Comments and Responses 
(Summary of Responses), unnumbered p. 7. Of course the statute contains no 
exception for disclosure of names and addresses: Why would the statute include 
an exception for something that is not required? The Department says that it 
“will not make [the names and addresses of a foreign source] part of the public 
disclosure report.” Department’s Summary of Public Comments and Responses 
(Summary of Responses), unnumbered p. 7. This promise of confidentiality is an 
assertion of authority at odds with the specific public inspection requirements in 
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the statute. In addition, there are not sufficient exceptions to FOIA to prevent the 
release of this information.1 The very real risk of disclosure of this personal 
identifying information will undoubtedly have a chilling effect on donations. For 
restricted and conditional gifts and contracts, the ICR also exceeds the statutory 
reporting requirements, again requiring a detailed description of all conditions or 
restrictions, the recipient, including any and all intermediaries, and the contract 
start and end dates. This effort to expand disclosure reporting beyond the 
statutory requirements exceeds the Department’s authority and is therefore 
unlawful.  
 
Recommendation: 
 
The Department should adhere to what the statute requires for the 
reporting of gift and contract information.  
 
Second, the revised ICR still contains the unauthorized mandate that institutions 
upload “true copies” of gift instruments and contract agreements to the 
Department’s information collection portal for all reportable gifts and contracts.  
Obviously, combined with the reporting mandate discussed above, this would 
create a “belt and suspenders” means of demanding information far in excess of 
what Sec. 117 requires.2 Neither the Department’s justifications nor its 
confidentiality assurances stand up to examination.  
 
This disclosure requirement is unprecedented in the history of the Department’s 
routine collection of information from institutions. The “true copy” disclosure 
mandate would swamp the Department with thousands of documents from 
hundreds of institutions, making the effort to ensure compliance more difficult 
and undermining the law’s goal of transparency. Rather than creating a needless 
and ultra vires requirement that will apply a burdensome and costly obligation 
on all institutions in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act and which 
lacks sufficient confidentiality protections, the Department could, consistent with 
its long-standing practice, obtain such documents where necessary through 
normal compliance reviews of institutions participating in the Department’s 
student financial aid and other programs.  
 

                                                 
1 In addition, it is doubly ironic given that the Department explicitly stated in connection with its 
original ICR that the statute provides it no authority to confer confidentiality over the requested 
data. The Department’s “Supporting Statement for Paperwork Reduction Submission,” 
(Supporting Statement), p. 5.  
 
2 Allegedly to alleviate concerns commentators raised about privacy considerations and potential 
disclosure of intellectual property and proprietary information, the Department now promises not 
to make “the true copies publicly available, to the extent permitted by law,” including a 
commitment to follow the FOIA “business information” disclosure exemption. Summary of 
Responses, unnumbered p. 6. 
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The Department’s justification for this overreach is an assertion that it must 
demand reporting in excess of statutory requirements in order to ensure 
compliance with the statute. Summary of Responses, unnumbered pp. 2, 6. Aside 
from the intrinsically problematic nature of this assertion—which turns a 
compliance obligation into a perpetual investigation—the Department’s claim 
that the “true copy” requirement will support its enforcement of Sec. 117 is 
specifically undercut by the plain language of the statute. Sec. 117 contains a very 
specific enforcement protocol. At the request of the Secretary of Education, the 
Attorney General may institute a civil action to compel compliance against any 
institution that has failed to comply with the requirements of the statute. See § 
1011f(f). In short, Congress expressly assigned enforcement authority to the 
Department of Justice.  
 
In addition, the Department’s promises to maintain confidentiality represent a 
head-turning reversal from the original ICR, where ED explicitly stated that it 
had no statutory authority to provide confidentiality. Supporting Statement, p. 5.  
The Department was correct in its original position on this issue. Indeed, in light 
of Sec. 117’s specific public inspection provisions as well as FOIA requirements, it 
is reasonable to foresee that this illusory promise of confidentiality will be easily 
pierced, creating the same breach of confidentiality disclosure concerns we 
originally raised.   
 
Recommendation: 
 
The Department should remove the requirement in the revised 
proposed information collection request that institutions produce 
true copies of gift, contract, and restricted or conditional gift 
agreements. 
 
For the reasons set forth above, the Department’s proposed information 
collection request unlawfully exceeds the authority granted to it by Congress in 
Sec. 117. Accordingly, we recommend that the Department’s request for 
emergency processing of the revised proposed ICR be denied; and that the 
Department make changes to the proposed revised ICR to limit disclosure 
reporting to the requirements in the statute and withdraw the proposed mandate 
requiring production of true copies of gift agreements and contracts.  
 
Also, please find attached a legal memorandum by Hogan Lovells LLP, prepared 
at ACE’s request, regarding the Department’s original proposed information 
collection request, which is still applicable. This memorandum was sent 
separately to the Department’s Acting General Counsel Reed Rubinstein by ACE’s 
General Counsel. 
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Thank you for your attention to this matter. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Terry W. Hartle 
Senior Vice President  
 
On behalf of: 
 
American Association of Community Colleges 
American Association of State Colleges and Universities 
American Council on Education  
Association of American Medical Colleges 
Association of American Universities 
Association of Governing Boards of Universities and Colleges 
Association of Jesuit Colleges and Universities 
Association of Public & Land-grant Universities 
Council for Advancement and Support of Education 
Council on Governmental Relations 
Hispanic Association of Colleges and Universities 
National Association of College and University Business Officers 
National Association of Independent Colleges and Universities 
National Association of Student Financial Aid Administrators 
 






















